1 2 3 4 5	Electronically Filed IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
	6 7 8 9 10	J.W. BENTLEY and MARYANN BENTLEY, TRUSTEES OF THE BENTLEY FAMILY 1995 TRUST; JOY SMITH; DANIEL BARDEN; and ELAINE BARDEN, Appellants, v. STATE OF NEVADA, OFFICE OF THE
MATUSKA LAW OFFICES, LTD 2310 South Carson Street, Suite 6 Carson City NV 89701 (775) 350-7220	11 12 13 14 15	STATE ENGINEER; DONALD S. FORRESTER; KRISTINA M. FORRESTER; HALL RANCHES, LLC; THOMAS J. SCYPHERS; KATHLEEN M. SCYPHERS; FRANK SCHARO; SHERIDAN CREEK EQUESTRIAN CENTER, LLC; RONALD R. MITCHELL; AND GINGER G. MITCHELL,

I.	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
II.	ROUTING STATEMENT
III.	STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW2
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE4
V.	STATEMENT OF FACTS6
VI.	OVERVIEW OF NEVADA'S STATUTORY WATER LAW14
VII.	ARGUMENT – ROTATION SCHEDULE
	A. The Rotation Schedule is Not Authorized by the Nevada Revised Statutes
	1. The Rationale Used by the District Court.162. The Rationale Used by the Intervenors.183. The Rationale Used by the State Engineer.19
	B. The Rotation Schedule Does Not Divide the Water22
	C. The Rotation Schedule Enables Unlawful Use of Gansberg Spring25
	D. Bentley Was Entitled to Judicial Review25
VIII.	ARGUMENT – DIVERSION AGREEMENT28
	A. The Limited Scope of a Water Adjudication Case is to Determine the Relative Rights of the Claimants
	B. Intervenors' Response is Not an Allowed Pleading31
	C. Bentley's Use of the Water to Maintain His Pond Levels is Not a Consumptive Use
	D. Chain of Title35

1	E. The Rolphs Were Not Required to Sign the Diversion	
2	Agreement36	
3	F. The Reservation of Water Rights Was Ineffective37	
4	G. Intervenors are Estopped from Challenging the Diversion Agreement38	
5	H. Bentley's Affirmative Defenses40	
7	IX. ARGUMENT – ATTORNEY'S FEES	
8		
9	A. The Order for Attorney's Fees Was Not Incorporated into the Decree43	
10	B. Intervenors Were Not Entitled to Attorney's Fees45	
11	C. Intervenors Were Not the Prevailing Parties; and Attorney's Fees	
12	Have to be Apportioned48	
13	D. Intervenors Did Not Actually Incur an Obligation for Attorney's Fees49	
14	X. CONCLUSION50	
15		
16	NRAP 26.1 Disclosure	
17	Cartificate of Compliance	
18	Certificate of Compliance	
19	Certificate of Service	
20	Appendix A	
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		

MATUSKA LAW OFFICES, LTD. 2310 South Carson Street, Suite 6 Carson City NV 89701 (775) 350-7220

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Ahmadi v. Alford
Andersen Family Associates v. Ricci
<i>Bergmann v. Boyce</i>
Davis v. Nevada Nat'l Bank
Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby
Fox v. First Western Sav. & Loan Ass'n
Franchise Tax Board v. Hyatt
Frei v. Goodsell
In re Westinghouse Securities Litigation
In re Westinghouse Securities Litigation
Lanigir v. Arden
Lisa v. Strom

Nevada State Democratic Party v. Nev. Republican Party
NGA #2 Ltd. Liab. Co. v. Rains
Noronha v. Stewart
<i>Ormsby County v. Kearney.</i> 15, 16 37 Nev. 314, 142 P. 803 (1914)
Reno Club v. Young Inv. Co
Santa Monica Mountain Properties v. Simoneau
Sellers v. Fourth Judicial District Court. 49 119 Nev. 256, 260, 71 P.3d 495 (2003)
Sheehan & Sheehan v. Nelson Malley & Co. 32 117 P.3d 219 (Nev. 2005)
Smith v. District Court
South Fork Bank of Te-Moak Tribe v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Ct
State v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Ct
State Engineer v. Sustacha
Vosburg Equip. v. Zupanic

Statutes and Other Authorities
FRCP 9(b)44
FRCP 12(b)(6)44
NRAP 3A43, 45
NRAP 3(b)(1)1, 2
NRAP 3(b)(8)
NRAP 17(a)(9)2
NRCP 731
NRCP 54(d)45, 46
NRS 11.07040
NRS 17.15043, 45
NRS 18.01046, 47
NRS 18.010(1)47
NRS 18.010(2)(a)48
NRS 18.010(2)(b)
NRS 111.31540
NRS 111.32040
NRS 533.03514
NRS 533.04037
NRS 533.040(2)37
NRS 533.0755, 9, 11, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 26, 46, 47, 50, 51

NRS 533.085
NRS 533.0904, 15, 30
NRS 533.090(1)30
NRS 533.090(2)30
NRS 533.10030
NRS 533.100(1)30
NRS 533.14030
NRS 533.140(1)30
NRS 533.16030
NRS 533.160(1)30
NRS 533.16530
NRS 533.170(2)
NRS 533.170(5)31
NRS 533.220(1)23
NRS 533.220(2)19
NRS 533.26530
NRS 533.265(1)30
NRS 533.265(4)30
NRS 533.324
NRS 533.38340
Restatement (Second) of Contracts §202 (1979)

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal involves four (4) separate orders from the District Court:

- 1. Final order on November 27, 2013 denying consolidated petitions for judicial review of the State Engineer's rotation schedule in District Court Case No. 08-CV-0363-D1 [Joint Appendix Volume 5 ("JA5"), 1046-1051]. This Court has jurisdiction over the appeal from that order pursuant to NRAP 3(b)(1). Notice of entry of order was provided on December 4, 2013 [JA5 1052-1062]. Bentley, Smith, and Barden filed their Joint Notice of Appeal on December 23, 2013. The appeal was docketed as Case No. 64773.
- 2. Order awarding costs in District Court Case No. 08-CV-0363-D1 on July 14, 2014 [Supplemental Appendix Vol. 9 ("SA9") 1701-1704]. This Court has jurisdiction over the appeal pursuant to NRAP 3(b)(8) as a special order following the entry of final judgment. Notice of entry of order was provided on July 15, 2014 [SA9 1705-1712]. Bentley, Smith, and Barden filed their Joint Notice of Appeal on August 12, 2014. That appeal was docketed as Case No. 66303. This Order for costs is not an issue in this Opening Brief, except to the extent the order has to be reversed if this case is reversed or remanded.
- 3. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Judgment and Decree ("Decree") on September 29, 2014 in Case No. 08-CV-0363 [SA5 840-1023]. This Court has jurisdiction over the appeal from the *Decree* pursuant to NRAP 3(b)(1). Notice of Entry of the *Decree* was provided on October 16, 2014 [SA5 1024-1026]. Bentley

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

noticed its appeal on November 10, 2014. That appeal was docketed as Case No. 66932.

4. Case No. 66932 also involves the January 4, 2013 Order awarding attorney's fees and costs to the Intervenors in District Court Case No. 08-CV-0363-D [SA4, 825-830]. Notice of Entry of that order was provided on January 8, 2013 [SA5 831-839]. That Order was entered prior to the *Decree*. It was not mentioned in the Decree nor incorporated therein. It is not a final order for purposes of NRAP 3(b)(1), and it cannot be considered a special order after final judgment pursuant to NRAP 3(b)(8). Bentley appealed from that Order in an abundance of caution. Part IX of this Opening Brief addresses the multiple problems with this Order, including the apparent lack of finality.

II. **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This matter concerns a water rights adjudication proceeding and is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9).

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Intervenors' Response and Objections to Notice of Exceptions and Exceptions to Final Order of Determination ("Response") [SA1 85-88] is an allowed pleading in this water rights adjudication case pursuant to NRS 533.170(2); and if so, whether the affirmative defenses contained therein are sufficient to place their claim to quiet title to a Water Use and Diversion Agreement that was recorded

3

5

6

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

in 1987 [Tr.Ex. 10, JA7 1299-1306] at issue for trial. These are questions of law that reviewed de novo.

- 2. Whether Bentley's use of their vested, adjudicated water rights to maintain water levels in their ponds was a consumptive use of the water that violated the 1987 Water Use and Diversion Agreement. This is a question of contract interpretation that is reviewed de novo.
- 3. Whether the District Court exceeded its statutory authority by ordering the State Engineer to impose a rotation schedule based on the preference of a bare majority, in this case six (6) of eleven (11) claimants. This is a question of law that is reviewed de novo.
- 4. Whether the District Court committed reversible error by including water from Gansberg Springs in the rotation schedule, when some the Intervenors have no claim to that water. This is a question of law that is reviewed de novo.
- 5. Whether the District Court committed reversible error by denying the Bentley, Smith, and Barden petitions for judicial review of the rotation schedule on the basis of issue preclusion. This is a question of law that is reviewed de novo.
- 6. Whether the January 4, 2013 attorney's fees order [SA4 825-830] ever became a final order. This is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. If the January 4, 2013 attorney's fees order is a final order:
- a. Whether the District Court committed reversible error by ruling that Bentley's defense of the 1987 Water Use and Diversion Agreement and Gansberg

2

3

5

6

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Spring was so lacking in merit that attorney's fees were awarded to Intervenors under NRS 18.010(2)(b). This is a mixed question of law and fact.

b. Whether the District Court committed reversible error by awarding attorney's fees when the obligation for fees was not actually incurred and by failing to apportion the attorney's fees between Bentley's exceptions and Intervenor's affirmative claims. These are questions of law that are reviewed de novo.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from an adjudication of vested water rights pursuant to NRS 533.090-533.435. The State Engineer filed the Final Order of Determination ("FOD") of the relative rights with the District Court on August 14, 2008 [JA2 190-424]. Bentley filed certain exceptions thereto [JA1 190-491]. The FOD has the effect of a complaint in a civil case and Bentley's exceptions have the effect of an answer. No other pleadings are allowed. NRS 533.170(2). Despite this prohibition against further pleadings, the District Court allowed Intervenors to file a document entitled Response and Objections to Notice of Exceptions and Exceptions to Final Order of Determination ("Response") [SA1 85-88]. Intervenors' Response was styled as affirmative defenses, but included a claim to quiet title to a Water Use and Diversion Agreement that was recorded in March 1987 by Bentley's predecessor.

All of Bentley's exceptions were resolved by stipulations prior to the commencement of trial on January 9, 2012. Trial proceeded on Intervenors' claim to quiet title to the *Diversion Agreement*. Intervenors prevailed on that claim. The issue

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

of the rotation schedule was not tried in Case No. 08-CV-0363-D. Rather, the District Court accepted the following stipulation prior to trial:

- 15. The parties made the following stipulations in relation to these Exceptions at the beginning of the trial, which were adopted by the Court:
- a. Exception 1, in part, was that the State Engineer would not attempt to include a rotation schedule in the Decree itself, but that the provisions of NRS 533.075 and the order of this Court would be used to determine when and if a rotation schedule is needed to efficiently use the waters of the State of Nevada. However, Bentley reserves all objections to the imposition of a rotation schedule, including objection about the statutory authority to do so. [Findings of Fact JA4 762]

Despite the foregoing, in his closing argument at the conclusion of trial on January 13, 2012, Senior Deputy Attorney General Bryan Stockton, who was representing the State Engineer, asked the District Court to give the State Engineer authority to impose a rotation schedule [Tr.Trans. 1/13/2012, SA6 1252]. Bentley's counsel asked to provide a rebuttal to that request, but was denied. The District Court granted the State Engineer's request. In its April 5, 2012 Findings of Fact, Conclusion of Law and Judgment ("Findings of Fact") [JA1 154-171], the District Court confirmed what it believed was already the State Engineer's statutory authority and ordered him to impose the rotation schedule. In fact, there is no such statutory authority. Bentley appealed the *Findings of Fact* as Case No. 60891. That appeal was dismissed because the *Findings of Fact* was not the final decree. The District Court also awarded attorney's fees to the Intervenors. Bentley appealed from that order as Case No. 62620. That appeal was also dismissed.

2

3

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Bentley also appealed from the *Decree* that was entered on September 29, 2014 [SA5 840-1023]. That appeal was docketed as Case No. 66932. In the meantime, Bentley, Smith, and Barden petitioned for judicial review of the various rotation schedules that were imposed by the State Engineer. Those petitions were consolidated in the District Court as Case No. 08-CV-0363-D1. Those petitions were denied in the Order entered on November 27, 2013 [JA5 1046-1051]. The District Court did not reach the merits of the petition. That appeal was docketed as Case No. 64773 and consolidated with this appeal.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. Sheridan Creek splits into the North Branch and the South Branch. The North Branch has approximately sixty percent (60%) of the flow, 2.1 cfs from a measured flow of 3.5 cfs. [FOD, JA2 338].
- 2. This case concerns the North Branch of Sheridan Creek. A list of the eleven (11) parties with decreed rights to the North Branch of Sheridan Creek is attached hereto as Appendix A. Appendix A summarizes the approved acreage and the pro rata ownership. Bentley, Smith, and Barden are the Appellants herein. Bentley also leases Pestana's water rights and has purchased Sapp's water rights [Tr.Exs. 91-94, SA8 1599-1609]. Sapp has not appeared in these proceedings. Hall Ranches, LLC, Thomas J. Scyphers and Kathleen M. Scyphers, Frank Scharo, Sheridan Creek Equestrian Center, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, Ronald Mitchell and Ginger Mitchell, and Donald S. Forrester and Kristina M. Forrester (collectively,

2

3

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

"Intervenors") intervened in the proceedings below [JA1 113-116].

- 3. Flows in the North Branch of Sheridan Creek are supplemented by two (2) additional water sources, Stutler Creek and Gansberg Spring. The water from those sources is captured by collection boxes and piped into the North Branch of Sheridan Creek below the split with the South Branch. [FOD, JA2 89, 418-419; see also Analysis of the Distribution System and the 2011 Rotation Schedule Pertaining to the Waters of the North Diversion of Sheridan Creek and its Tributaries prepared by Michael Stanka, P.E. ("Stanka Report"), Tr.Ex. 96, SA8 at 1649].
- 4. North Branch Sheridan Creek enters Bentley's Property, from where it can be split three (3) ways through a series of water boxes, pipes, and the original Sheridan Creek ditch/creek bed to reach the various claimants. The Stanka Report provides the best illustration of the 3-way split in the delivery system for the North Branch of Sheridan Creek [Stanka Report, SA8 1649].
- 5. All of the parties to these proceedings share a common chain of title [discussed infra]. As such, all of the claims of vested rights shown on *Appendix A* and referenced herein were submitted at the same time, by Milton Sharp, P.E., who acted as an agent for the parties, claimed the same priority date(s) and used the same report and the same map [See Tr.Exs. 49-55, SA7 1432-1461; JA4 643-662]. Donald Forrester testified that "We all decided . . . we all hired one water engineer to split his fee." [Tr.Trans. 1/9/2012, p. 113, ls.4-14, SA6 1056].

2

3

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

6. Bentley purchased 12.93 acres of property on Sheridan Lane in Douglas County, Nevada, from Theadore and Kathleen Weber on May 6, 2006 [Tr.Ex. 29, SA7 1378-1379]. The Webers previously submitted four (4) proofs of claim for vested water rights in 1994, including: (i) V-06305 for irrigation rights from Sheridan Creek; (ii) V-06306 for overlapping irrigation rights from Stutler Creek; (iii) V-06307 for stock water and wildlife rights from Sheridan Creek; and (iv) V-06308 for stock water and wildlife rights from Stutler Creek [Tr.Exs.50-55, SA7 1435-1461].

- 7. The FOD confirmed the Bentley/Weber map, including the priority date (1852 and 1905), the manner of use (irrigation, domestic, stock water), the point of diversion, and the place of use (the 12.93 acres now owned by Bentley) [FOD, JA2 248-249, 302-304]. Bentley's irrigation rights have since been changed to recreation use (See Request for Judicial Notice). The place of use did not change.
- 8. Appellant Joy Smith is the owner of vested water rights, Proof V-06346, to the waters of the North Branch of Sheridan Creek and the commingled waters of Stutler Creek [JA4 643]. Joy Smith's claim also covers the Barden property.
- 9. Bentley, Smith, and Barden also have water rights to Gansberg Spring under permit 7595, Certificate 1760. Gansberg Spring is also commingled with North Sheridan Creek. Gansberg Spring is referenced in the FOD as a permitted right and was not part of the vested rights determined in the adjudication [JA2 282-283].

10. Sheridan Creek Equestrian Center and Ronald and Ginger Mitchell have decreed rights to the North Branch of Sheridan Creek, but have no claim to Gansberg Spring [FOD, JA2 315, 445; *Stanka Report*, SA8 1630].

11. The State Engineer filed the FOD in Case No. 08-CV-0363 on August 14, 2008 [JA2 222-456]. The FOD determined vested rights for Sheridan Creek and other stream systems located on the east slope of the Carson Range of the Sierra Nevada Mountains located in Douglas County, Nevada. The FOD approved all of the vested claims listed on *Appendix A*, including the Weber/Bentley proofs, without reference to a compulsory rotation schedule [FOD, JA2 248-249]. In fact, the FOD emphasized the voluntary nature of a rotation schedule under NRS 533.075:

3. Rotation and Use of Water

Claimants of vested water rights and those owners of water rights acquired through the appropriative process from a common supply <u>may</u> rotate the use of water to which they are collectively entitled based on an agreement, so as to not injure nonparticipants or infringe upon their water rights, which is subject to approval by the State Engineer. The purpose is to enable irrigators to exercise their water rights more efficiently, and this to bring about a more economical use of available water supplies in accordance with their dates of priority. NRS §533.075. [FOD, JA2 189) [emphasis added]

12. Claimants had five (5) days prior to the scheduled hearing on April 1, 2008 to notice any exceptions to the FOD [SA1 1-3]. Bentleys filed their *Notice of Exceptions* to the FOD in Case No. 08-CV00363 on December 10, 2008, after learning that the Intervenors were going to demand a rotation schedule [JA3 457-

2

3

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

475]. Bentley requested in Exception No. 1 of the *Notice of Exceptions* to be exempt from any forthcoming rotation schedule, especially when doing so would have the effect of nullifying the Water Diversion and Use Agreement that was recorded in the Official Records of Douglas County, Nevada, on 27 March 1987, at Bk. 387 Pg. 2726, Doc. No. 152147 ("Diversion Agreement") [JA3 436-443]. The Diversion Agreement was specifically identified in the Bentley/Weber Proof Nos. V-06307 and V-06308 that were filed by the jointly hired water engineer, Milton Sharp, and formed part of the support for those proofs [Tr.Exs. 52, 53, SA7 1447, 1450].

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