THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

1 J.W. BENTLEY AND MARYANN BENTLEY, TRUSTEES OF THE 2 BENTLEY FAMILY 1995 TRUST, 3 Appellants, 4 5 THE STATE OF NEVADA, STATE 6 ENGINEER; HALL RANCHES, LLC; THOMAS J. SCYPHERS; KATHLEEN M. SCYPHERS; FRANK SCHARO; SHERIDAN 8 CREEK EQUESTRIAN CENTER, LLC; DONALD S. FORRESTER; KRISTINA M. ||FORRESTER; RONALD R. MITCHELL; AND GINGER G. MITCHELL, 10 Respondents / 11 12 13 14 15 RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF 16 17 (In Response to Opening Brief filed by Jessica Prunty, Esq.) 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT.

Respondents HALL RANCHES, LLC, а Nevada Limited Liability Company, THOMAS J. SCYPHERS, KATHLEEN M. SCYPHERS, FRANK SCHARO, SHERIDAN CREEK EQUESTRIAN CENTER, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company, DONALD S. FORRESTER, KRISTINA M. FORRESTER, RONALD R. MITCHELL and GINGER G. MITCHELL, hereinafter Intervenors, agree with the Jurisdictional Statement submitted by Appellants Joy Smith, Daniel Barden and Elaine Barden ("Smith and Barden").

#### II. ROUTING STATEMENT.

The Intervenors agree with the Routing Statement provided by the Smith and Barden.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Intervenors agree with the Issues Presented for Review as this is the appeal of Smith and Barden.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This appeal rises from the adjudication of multiple vested water rights located in Carson Valley pursuant to NRS 533.090-533.435. On August 14, 2008, the State Engineer filed his Final Order of Determination ("FOD") of the relative water rights with the district court. 2 JA 190-424. The Bentleys filed certain exceptions thereto. Exceptions, 1 JA 192-491. Intervenors filed their Response and Objection

2

4

5

6

7

8

9

2012.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

2015.

19

20

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

154-171; 5 SA 974-990.

current

All

Determination. Response,

the Bentleys'

the

The essential facts involving this matter are amply and

consolidated by Order of this Court entered on January 22,

to Notice of Exceptions and Exceptions to Final Order of

accepted the Response as a pleading and proceeded to hear

as

Response at trial on January 9, 2012. Intervenors prevailed

on all matters set forth in their Response. On April 5,

Conclusions of Law and Judgment, determining that under the

specific facts and circumstances of the matters presented at

trial, the State Engineer should impose a rotation schedule

under certain terms and conditions. Finding of Fact, 1 JA

remaining

court

well

entered

Exceptions

and

district

1 SA 85-88. The district court

the

Findings

appeals

Intervenors'

of

have

been

as

fully set forth by Respondent State Engineer in his brief

filed herein and are incorporated herein for brevity. See

23 | NRAP 28(i).

24

22

Intervenors have no real issue with the Statement of

Facts provided by Smith and Barden.

27

28

THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

2 3

4

6

5

7 8

9

10

11

13

12

14 15

16

17

18 19

21

22 23

24

25

26

28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND

COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

On September 29, 2014, the Final Decree was entered which adopted and included the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment as Appendix C. 5 SA 848-849.

Other facts will be supplied to support the arguments made below as necessary.

#### ARGUMENT . VI.

#### Α. Standard of Review.

The district court reviews the State Engineer's FOD de novo. NRS 533.170. Appeals from the FOD are "taken to the appellate court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to the rules fixed by the Supreme Court pursuant to Section 4 of Article 6 of the Nevada Constitution by . . . any party in interest in the same manner and with the same effect as in civil cases . . NRS 533.200. "Findings of fact shall . ." not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to 20 || judge the credibility of the witnesses." NRCP 52(a). Questions of law are reviewed do novo. Arguello v. Sunset Station, Inc., 127 Nev.Adv.Op. 29, 252 P.3d 206, 207-208 (2011).

district court relied heavily on the State Engineer's FOD. To the extent the decision of the State Engineer is under review, NRS 533.450(9) provides

3

2

4 5

6 7

8

9

10

11

12 13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

2122

23

24

25

26

27

28
THOMAS J. HALL
ATTORNEY AND
COUNSELOR AT LAW

COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

"[t]he decision of the State Engineer shall be prima facie correct, and the burden of proof shall be upon the party attacking the same." Review of a decision of the State Engineer is in the nature of an appeal and is, consequently, limited in nature. NRS 533.450(1). On appeal, this Court is to review the evidence upon which the State Engineer based his decision to ascertain whether the evidence supports the decision, and if so, the Court is bound to sustain the State Engineer's decision. State Engineer v. Curtis Park, 101 Nev. 30, 32, P.2d 495 692 (1985). Purely legal issues questions may be reviewed without deference to an agency determination. However, the agency's conclusions of law that are closely related to its view of the facts are entitled to deference and will not be disturbed if they are supported by substantial evidence. Town of Eureka v. State Engineer, 108 Nev. 163, 165-166, 826 P.2d 948 (1992).

As generally discussed by this Court in Weddell v. H2O, Inc., 128 Nev.Adv.Op. 9, 271 P.3d 743, 748 (2012):

The issues on appeal require us to review the district court's factual findings, as interpret statutory and contractual provisions. "The district court's factual findings . . . given deference and will be upheld if not clearly erroneous and if supported by substantial evidence." Ogawa v. Ogawa, 125 Nev. 660, 668, 221 P.3d 699, 704 (2009). "Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Whitemaine v.

2 3

4

5 6

7

8 9

10

11

12

13

17 18

19

20

21

26

27

28 THOMAS J. HALL

ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

Aniskovich, 124 Nev. 302, 308, 183 P.3d 137, 141 (2008). Issues involving statutory and contractual interpretation are legal issues subject to our de novo review. See Canarelli v. Dist. Ct., 127 Nev. , \_\_\_, 265 P.3d 673, 676 (2011)(declaring that "[w]e review the district court's conclusions of including statutory interpretations, novo'" (quoting Borger v. Dist. Ct., 1021, 1026, 102 P.3d 600, 604 (2004))); Benchmark Insurance Company v. Sparks, 127 Nev. 617, 620 (2011) (providing that "'[i]nterpretation of a contract is a question of law that we review de novo'" (quoting Farmers Ins. Exch. V. Neal, 119 Nev. 62, 64 P.3d 472, 473 (2003))).

#### Smith and Barden Were Parties to the Adjudication. В.

Smith and Barden submitted proofs V-06346 and V-06347,

266. Вv doing they became so part adjudication. They were not required to, and elected not to, participate in the exception process, but they are under the 16 jurisdiction of the district court and are bound by the decisions thereof. "The decree entered by the court, as provided by NRS 533.185, shall be final and shall conclusive upon all persons and rights lawfully embraced within the adjudication . . . ." NRS 533.210(1). Both Smith and Barden were present at some of the trial proceedings and 23 Smith testified on the Bentleys' behalf at the hearing. 6 SA 24 1184, 3 TR 412-440. Testimony at the hearing indicated that the four inch (4") pipe that leads to the Barden and Smith properties would take the entire flow of the North Split of Sheridan Creek during low-flow.

2

3

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17 18

- -

19

20

21 22

23

24

25

26 27

28

2 THOMAS J. HALL

ATTORNEY AND
COUNSELOR AT LAW
305 SOUTH ARLINGTON
AVENUE
POST OFFICE BOX 3948
RENO, NEVADA 89505
(775) 248-7011

The order of the district court was properly crafted to ensure all water users obtain their share in a way that makes that share useable. McCormick v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court in & for Humboldt County, 69 Nev. 214, 226, 246 P.2d 805 (1952) ("We think it abundantly clear that the district court sitting as a court of equity had full and complete if it felt that the circumstances authority, orthe exigencies of the case warranted, to see that its decree was enforced . . . .") Smith and Barden may have chosen to act at their own peril by not formally entering the adjudication process; however, once the proofs of their claims submitted, they were parties and are bound by the outcome. NRS 533.210(1).

The Smith and Barden brief states, at page 12, lines 19-26, as follows:

533.075 was enacted as part of the NRS comprehensive statutory water law scheme. embodies the common law policy in existence that time of encouraging the practice of agreedupon rotation as an efficient use of a single source of water by its different users. Neither the State Engineer nor Intervenors have disputed that NRS 533.075 is a consent-based Therefore, in the absence of a clear grant of statutory authority, which admittedly does not exist, the State Engineer may not use rotation as an administrative tool to force rotation upon nonconsenting users.

2

4

3

5 6

7

8

# 9

10 11

14

15

16

17

18

19

20 21

22

23

24 25

26

27

28 THOMAS J. HALL

ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

The problem of course with this statement is that NRS 533.075 never "embodie[d] the common law." The cases are quite uniform that the common law required rotation during times of low flow, even over the objection of the water users, an equitable and fair way to distribute scarce water resources as discussed further below.

#### C. The Parties Agreed That a Rotation Schedule May be Authorized in the Decree.

At the commencement of the trial in this matter, the 12 parties in attendance stipulated and agreed that a rotation schedule would not be included in the Decree, and if later imposed by the State Engineer, the Bentleys reserved the right to contest the same. The transcript of this portion of the trial provides, 6 SA 1030-1031; 1 TR 10:1 - 13:10:

> MR. STOCKTON: So, we haven't actually put that into writing yet, but we worked out an agreement.

And so what we've agreed is it was never intention to put a rotation schedule decree. [S]o there won't be a rotation schedule in the decree, but State Engineer still retains his flexibility statutory to impose rotation schedule if need be.

THE COURT: Which is going to happen in four months. I agree . . . that the Exceptors [the Bentleys] . . . have continually opposed the imposition of a rotation schedule. If it were not in the decree, and perhaps there could be a recitation in the decree that the State Engineer retains [the Bentleys'] right to oppose such a

rotation schedule in a given water year it if became necessary.

MR. HALL: That's satisfactory.

\* \* \*

THE COURT: Okay. So with regard to exception number 1, I believe it's a stipulation of the parties that the final decree itself will not contain a rotation schedule, but that the State Engineer will retain [his] statutory authority to impose such a rotation schedule within [his] discretion in a given water year . . . Is . . . that an accurate recitation of it, Mr. Stockton?

MR. STOCKTON: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you agree with that Mr. Hall?

MR. HALL: Yes, sir.

\*

THE COURT: And, Mr. Matuska, do you stipulate to the same?

MR. MATUSKA: Yes, except that we've opposed the - the legal authority of the State Engineer to impose a rotation schedule in the first place, but the way that the stipulation is being presented it isn't an immediate issue for us today. Ostensibly we would have the right to object to or oppose or even appeal an action from the State Engineer in the future.

THE COURT: Agreed.

The case proceeded on the basis of that stipulation and agreement. See Findings of Fact,  $\P$  15(a), 5 SA 977.

26 \\\\

27

23

24

25

28

THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505

(775) 348-7011

### 2 3

4

5 6

7

8

12

13

14

15 16

17

18

21

22 23

24

25

26

28

THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

#### Rotation Schedule Allows All Parties 1. Ability to Receive Their Share of Water.

In 2006, J. W. Bentley and Maryann Bentley, Trustees of the Bentley Family 1995 Trust ("Bentleys"), who are also Appellants in this matter, purchased their property and in proceeded dismantle the Intervenors' 2008, to diversion structures, pipes, ditches and water boxes, and thereafter built a second, larger, unlined, water consuming 11 | pond. Exhibit 29; 7 SA 1378-1379; 6 SA 1052-1053; 1 TR 98:20 - 101:10.

Because of the geographic location of the Bentleys' property, being where Sheridan Creek and Stutler Creek first flow onto the Bentleys' property, above the Intervenors' properties, the Bentleys are able to divert the entire flow of water during times of scarcity, shortage and drought, 19 thereby depriving the Intervenors and Appellants Smith and 20||Barden of all water during such periods of low flow. 6 SA 1056; 1 TR 115:18 - 116:23.

Smith and Barden testified at trial. Their position was that the four inch (4") pipeline providing water to their in properties should remain as the past without interruption. Joy Smith merely testified that she wanted the same use as before to water her pastures and keep water in

3

5

6

7

8 g

10

11

1415

16

17

18

19

20

21|

22 23

24

25

26 27

28 THOMAS J. HALL

ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

her pond via a continuous flow. 6 SA 1186; 3 TR 419:2-420:8. Dan Barden testified he prefers the way things were. 6 SA 1237; 4 TR 557:6-558:18.

pre-trial Following extensive discovery, hearings and a non-jury trial before District Judge David R. Gamble, determined under he the specific facts circumstances presented, that rotation shall be imposed by the State Engineer whenever water flows drop below 2.0 cfs, at the level the district court determined that all users would not be receiving the full complement and flow of their 13| vested water rights. 6 SA 988,  $\P$  5 and 6. In 2012 and 2013 the State Engineer implemented the rotation pursuant to the district court's order. 1 JA 7-18, 5 JA 889-899.

# The Pre-statutory Vested Water Rights Held By The Parties Can Be Modified By Court-ordered Rotation.

Because all the water rights considered in this case were vested in 1852 and 1905, before statutory provisions were later legislated, these pre-statutory vested water rights are not subject to the limitations contained in the rotation-by-consent only statute, NRS 533.075.

Throughout this nation, and apparently throughout the world, rotation of water rights has been imposed on non-

17 18

20

22 23

24

25 26

27

28

THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

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